SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION AND BIOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS OF BONE MORPHOGENETIC PROTEINS

Di Chen, Ming Zhao, Stephen E. Harris and Zenghui Mi

Department of Cellular and Structural Biology, University of Texas, Health Science Center at San Antonio, 7703 Floyd Curl Drive, Mail code: 7762, San Antonio, TX 78229-3900

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. BMP Receptor Signaling
- 4. Mutations in BMPs and BMP Receptors
- 5. Mutations in BMP Antagonists
- 6. Gene Alterations of BMPs and BMP Receptors
- 7. Regulation of BMP Genes
- 8. Biological Functions of BMPs
- 9. Clinical Applications of BMPs
- 10. Drug Targeting on BMP Signaling
- 11. Acknowledgements
- 12. References

1. ABSTRACT

Bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) are multifunctional growth factors and belong to the transforming growth factor β (TGF β) superfamily. The roles of BMPs in embryonic development and cellular functions in postnatal animals have been extensively studied in recent years. Signal transduction studies have revealed that Smad1 and 5 are the immediate downstream molecules of BMP receptor and play a central role in BMP signal transduction. Using transgenic and knockout approaches and animal models with naturally occurring mutations in BMP genes, it has been shown that BMPs play critical roles in mesoderm formation, heart development, cartilage development and postnatal bone formation. Recombinant BMP-2 and 7 have been used clinically for several different clinical interventions such as non-union fractures and spinal fusions. Tissue-specific knockout of a specific BMP ligand, a subtype of BMP receptors or a specific signaling molecule is required to further determine the specific role of a particular BMP ligand, receptor or signaling molecule.

2. INTRODUCTION

BMPs are members of the TGF β superfamily. BMPs were originally identified from bone matrix using an ectopic bone formation assay (1). The activity of BMPs was first identified in the 1960s (2), but the proteins responsible for bone induction remained unknown until the purification and sequence of bovine BMP-3 (osteogenin) and cloning of human BMP-2 and -4 in the late 1980s (3,4).

The purification of BMPs was completed using the rat ectopic bone formation assay. This assay involves combining the sample containing the unknown protein to be assayed with demineralized rat bone matrix, which has been treated with dissociative agents such as guanidine and urea to remove all of the endogenous BMP activity. This

combination is then implanted subcutaneously in rats, and after 1-2 week, formation of new cartilage and bone was detected by the histological method (4). Using this bioassay, BMPs were purified and sequenced. Purifying growth regulatory factors present in trace amounts in bone tissue to homogeneity using a slow and cumbersome *in vivo* bioassay was an amazing feat.

To determine the biological activities of each individual BMP member, a cloning approach was taken to obtain molecular clones corresponding to each of the proteins present in the purified extract. Based on the BMP sequence information, oligonucleotide probes were synthesized, and used to screen bovine genomic libraries. Once bovine genes corresponding to the proteins were obtained, they were then used to obtain human cDNA clones encoding each protein within the extract. A large number of clones were identified by this cloning strategy (1). All of the BMPs have amino acid sequence homology to each other. To date, around 20 BMP family members have been identified and characterized.

BMPs are 30-38 kDa homodimers that are synthesized as prepropeptides of approximately 400-525 amino acids (1). The mature C-terminal region of 100-140 amino acid residues is released from a propeptide region by cleavage at an Arg-X-X-Arg sequence. The secretion of the C-terminal mature segment is as a dimer, in many cases with one disulfide-link (1). Although homodimers are considered the standard form, there are natural heterodimers with similar bioactivity. It has been reported that a heterodimer composed of BMP-4 and BMP-7 is a potent inducer of mesoderm (5). BMPs have similar sequences including seven similarly-spaced cysteine residues located in the mature region of the proteins. Six of seven cysteine residues on each BMP subunit form three

intrachain disulfide bonds, with the remaining one forming an interchain bridge to create the dimer (1,6). Many of the BMPs are glycosylated in both the mature and propeptide regions, as determined by both biochemical characterization and the presence of appropriate carbohydrate addition sites in the presumed amino acid sequence (1Unlike TGFB, secreted BMP proforms apparently do not form latent complexes with their mature There is a considerable cross-species counterparts. bioactivity for the BMPs. The BMPs have been grouped into subsets based on amino acid sequence homology. The groupings are suggested to be 1) BMP-2 and BMP-4; 2) BMP-3 and BMP-3b; 3) BMP-5, BMP-6, BMP-7 and BMP-8: 4) BMP-9 and BMP-10: 5) BMP-12, BMP-13 and BMP-14: and 6) BMP-11 and growth/differentiation factor 8 (GDF-8) (6,7). The production of BMPs by recombinant methods has allowed the activities of each molecule to be investigated using in vitro and in vivo assays. These recombinant BMPs have been produced using a mammalian cell expression system (8,9), an Escherichia coli (E. coli)-expression system (10,11) and a baculovirus expression system.

3. BMP RECEPTOR SIGNALING

BMPs signal through serine/threonine kinase receptors, composed of type I and type II subtypes. Three type I receptors have been shown to bind BMP ligands, type IA and IB BMP receptors (BMPR-IA or ALK-3 and BMPR-IB or ALK-6) and type IA activin receptor (ActR-IA or ALK-2) (12,13,14). Three type II receptors for BMPs have also been identified and they are type II BMP receptor (BMPR-II) and type II and IIB activin receptors (ActR-II and ActR-IIB) (7,15,16,17). Whereas BMPR-IA, BMPR-IB, and BMPR-II are specific to BMPs, ActR-IA, ActR-II, and ActR-IIB are also signaling receptors for activins. These receptors are expressed differentially in Ligand-receptor and some of the various tissues. downstream event (ie Smad utilization) have crossinteractions as observed among the BMP, activin and TGFB receptor family members.

Signal transduction through serine/threonine kinase receptors has been best characterized in the TGFB receptor system. It is likely that BMPs transduce signals in a similar fashion. Type Iand type II BMP receptors are both indispensable for signal transduction. After ligand binding they form a heterotetrameric-activated receptor complex consisting of two pairs of a type I and type II complex (18). Both type I and II BMP receptors are composed of three parts: a short extracellular domains with 10-12 cysteine residues; a single membrane spanning domains; and a intracellular domains with serine/threonine kinase region (12,13,15,16,17). Preceding serine/threonine kinase domain, type I BMP receptors, but not type II BMP receptors, have a domain, which contains a characteristic SGSGS motif (GS domain) (12,13). The GS domain, which plays an important role in signal transduction, distinguishes type I serine/threonine kinase receptors from type II receptors. In the TGF-B and activin receptor systems, ligands bind to type II receptors in the absence of type I receptors. Type I receptors can bind

ligands only in the presence of type II receptors. However, BMPs bind weakly to the type I receptors in the absence of type II receptors. In the presence of type II receptors, the binding of BMPs to type I receptors is accelerated and increase in strength (12,13,18).

In the TGF β receptor system, the type II receptor kinase transphosphorylates the GS domain in type I receptor. This leads to activation of the type I receptor kinase (7). Phosphorylation of type I receptor is required for signal transduction, as TGFβ-mediated responses are impaired after mutation of serine and threonine residues in the GS domain of type I receptor, or after mutation in type II receptor rendering it incapable to phosphorylate type I receptor (19,20). These observations indicate that type II receptor is a primary binding protein for ligands, and that type I receptor acts as an effector in the signal transduction, although there are clear domains on BMP2, 4, and 7 ligands that bind specifically to the type I receptor (21). Mutation of the glutamine in GS domain of a type I BMP receptor to aspartic acid results in a receptor with a constitutively activated kinase. In these mutants, signals are transduced from type I BMP receptor in the absence of ligand and type II BMP receptor (20).

The type I BMP receptor substrates include a protein family, the Smad proteins, that play a central role in relaying the BMP signal from the receptor to target genes in the nucleus. Smad1, Smad5 and Smad8 are phosphorylated by BMP receptors in a ligand-dependent manner (22.23.24). After release from the receptor, Smad proteins associate with the related protein Smad4, which acts as a shared partner. This complex translocates into the nucleus and participates in gene transcription with other transcription factors. In vertebrates, Smad proteins consist of three regions: a conserved N-terminal domain (MH1 domain), a conserved C-terminal domain (MH2 domain), and a more divergent linker region. In the transcriptional complex, the Smads contact DNA via their N-terminal domains (25). The C-terminal domain of Smads mediates Smad-receptor interaction (24). Smads appear to go from a monomer state before C-terminal phosphorylation to a heterotrimeric state with two regulated Smad molecules with one Smad 4 molecule. This activation state allows the Smad oligomer to translocate into the nucleus (26). However, in the nucleus these complexes associate with molecules such as Ski and HDAC complexes to keep the gene in the off state until further modifications of the chromatin complex with co-activators of a select gene.

For example, activation of specific genes by Smads is conducted by interaction with specific sets DNA-binding proteins. The *Xenopus* protein Fast1 is the prototypic Smad-recruiting DNA-binding factor (25). Fast1, which contains a "winged helix" DNA binding domain, binds to the activin response element (ARE) and is absolutely required for activation of the Mix.2 gene in response to activin or TGF β . Fast1 bound to DNA alone does not activate transcription. However, recruitment of an activated Smad2-Smad4 complex to the ARE by Fast1 results in activation of Mix.2 expression (27). One of the transcription factors that interacts with Smad1 has been

identified as a homeodomain DNA-binding protein, Hoxc-Hoxc-8 serves as a transcriptional repressor for osteopontin gene transcription. Interaction of Smad1 with Hoxc-8 relieves the repressive activity of Hoxc-8 and activates osteopontin gene transcription. The interactive regions of Smad1 with Hoxc-8 are in the MH1 domain and linker region (28). Transgenic mice overexpressing Hoxc-8 show abnormal cartilage development, which is characterized by an accumulation of proliferating chondrocytes and reduced maturation (29), suggesting that Hoxc-8 plays a critical role in chondrocyte differentiation in vivo. This is very similar to the affect of a constitutive BMP receptor 1a on cartilage development (see Mishina, 2003, FBS). Interestingly, Smad2, a downstream molecule for TGFB signaling, interacts with another homeodomain DNA-binding protein, TGIF, a repressor of transcription. This occurs when TGIF moves into the nucleus with Smad4. Smad2-Smad4 complex recruits TGIF and histone deacetylases (HDACs) to a Smad target promoter, repressing transcription (30). These findings provide molecular evidences for another functional connection between growth factors such as Activin/BMP/TGFB and homeodomain DNA-binding transcription factors.

Another protein, which interacts with Smad1 and Smad5 in the nucleus, is core-binding factor $\alpha 1$ (Cbfa1) (31,32,33,34,35). Cbfa1 is an osteoblast/chondrocyte-specific transcription factor and plays a central role in osteoblast differentiation and bone formation. Targeted disruption of Cbfa1 in mice reveals that Cbfa1 expression is absolutely required for bone development *in vivo*. A complete lack of both endochondral and intramembranous ossification, with an absence of mature osteoblasts throughout the body, is observed in homozygous Cbfa1-deficient mice (36,37).

4. MUTATIONS IN BMPS AND BMP RECEPTORS

Studies of naturally occurring mutations of BMPs and BMP receptors have shown that BMPs play important roles in several inherited diseases. Short ear mutations in mice disrupt the gene for BMP-5 and this mutation in the BMP-5 gene is associated with a wide range of skeletal defects, including reductions in long bone width and the size of several vertebral processes and an overall lower body mass (38,39). Mutations in growth/differentiation factor-5 (GDF-5, CDMP-1 and BMP-11) genes result in brachypodism in mice (40) and chondrodysplasia in humans (41,42). Both BMP-5 and GDF-5 genes are localized on chromosome 2 in mice and on chromosome 20 in humans (40). GDF-5 has been shown to bind BMPR-IB specifically (43) and null mutations in the BMPR-IB gene causes a similar skeletal phenotype as that observed in GDF-5 mutant mice (44).

Fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva (FOP) is an extremely rare and disabling genetic disorder characterized by congenital malformations of the great toes and by progressive heterotopic endochondral ossification in predictable anatomical patterns. Ectopic expression of BMP-4 was found in FOP patients (45,46). Familial primary pulmonary hypertension is a rare autosomal

dominant disorder that has been mapped to chromosome Monoclonal plexiform lesions of proliferating endothelial cells in pulmonary arterioles are the major phenotype of this disease. These lesions lead to elevated pulmonary artery pressure, right ventricular failure and After genotyping multiple families with this disorder, BMPR-II mutations have been found in these patients (47,48,49). Mutations in GDF-9 and GDF-9b genes have been found in patients with premature ovarian polycystic ovary failure and syndrome Overexpression of BMP-2, -4, -5 and BMPR-IA is associated with malignancy of the oral epithelium (51) and overexpression of BMP-3 and BMP2 has been described in prostate cancer cells (52,53). Mutations in the BMPR-IB gene is associated with increased ovulation rates in Booroola Mérino ewes and in sheep (54). Female mice deficient in BMPR-IB are infertile due to a constellation of defects, including irregular estrous cyclicity, impaired pseudopregnancy response, severe defects in cumulus cell expansion, and insufficient uterine endometrial gland development (108).

5. MUTATIONS IN BMP ANTAGONISTS

Several mutations of the BMP antagonist now underscore how important it is to control the levels of BMP activity in a given system. For example, proximal symphalangism is an autosomal-dominant disorder with ankylosis of the proximal interphalangeal joints, carpal and tarsal bone fusion, and conductive deafness. These symptoms are shared by another disorder of joint morphogenesis, multiple synostoses syndrome. Recently, it was reported that both disorders were caused by heterozygous mutations of the human noggin gene. To date, seven mutations of noggin gene have been identified from unrelated families affected with joint morphogenesis (55,56). Noggin is a secreted polypeptide, which binds and inactivates BMP-2, 4 and 7. Recent co-crystal structures of noggin and BMP-7 gave clear insight into how noggin functions. It is similar in structure to a BMP ligand and can form a dimer and contains a cysteine knot. interesting aspect of the co-crystal structure was that the type I receptor binding domain and the type II receptor binding domain on each BMP7 monomer interacted with a specific clip section from each monomer of the dimeric noggin complex (21,57). This structure clearly show how noggin is so specific in inhibiting BMP 2, 4, and 7.

Sclerostosis is a recessively inherited osteosclerotic disorder caused by mutations in a protein called sclerostin (58). The disease was initially considered to be a variant of osteopetrosis (59), but subsequent metabolic studies revealed that the disorder is primarily due to increased bone formation, rather than defective bone resorption (60). Recently it has been reported that sclerostin is related in sequence to a family of secreted BMP antagonists, which includes Gremlin, Cerberus and Dan. Sclerostin is expressed in osteoblasts and osteoclasts and binds BMP-5, 6 and 7 with high affinity. Expression of sclerostin in C3H10T½ cells blocks acquisition of the osteoblast phenotype, and transgenic expression sclerostin in osteoblasts under the control of the osteocalcin promoter causes osteoporosis (58). These findings suggest that

BMPs play an important role in controlling bone formation and bone mass.

6. GENE ALTERATIONS FOR BMPS AND BMP RECEPTORS

To understand the roles of BMP ligands and BMP receptor signaling in embryonic development and in postnatal life, null mutations of BMP ligands and BMP receptors have been created and phenotypic changes in these animal models have been extensively studied. Mice deficient for BMP-2 and BMP-4 are nonviable. Homozygous BMP-2 mutant embryos die between day 7.5 and 10.5 of gestation and have defects in cardiac development, manifested by the abnormal development of the heart in the exocoelomic cavity (61). Homozygous BMP-4 mutant embryos die between day 6.5 and 9.5 and show little or no mesodermal differentiation (62). For more details, see review by Mishina in this issue of FBS.

BMP-7-deficient mice die shortly after birth because of poor kidney development. Histological analysis of mutant embryos at several stages of development reveals that metanephric mesenchymal cells fail to differentiate, resulting in a virtual absence of glomerulus in newborn kidneys. In addition, BMP-7-deficient mice have eye defects that appear to originate during lens induction (63,64). BMP-7 deficient mice have minor defects in the skeleton. BMP-6-deficient mice are viable and fertile, and show no overt defects in tissues known to express BMP-6 mRNA (65). BMP-6 is mainly expressed in hypertrophic cartilage. Since BMP-2 and BMP-6 are co-expressed in this tissue, BMP-2 may functionally compensate in BMP-6 null mice. Targeted null mutations of BMP-2 with BMP-6 null mice will be required to answer this question.

Growth/differentiation factor-8 (GDF-8, myostatin) is expressed specifically in developing and adult skeletal muscle. During early stages of embryogenesis, GDF-8 expression is restricted to the myotome compartment of developing somites. At later stages and in adult animals, GDF-8 is expressed in many different muscles throughout the body. GDF-8 null mutant mice are significantly larger than wild-type mice and show a large and widespread increase in skeletal muscle mass (66).

Null mutation of the BMPR-IA gene causes embryonic lethality in mice. Animals die at embryonic day 9.5. Homozygous mutants with morphological defects are first detected at day 7.0. No mesoderm forms in the mutant embryos, suggesting that BMPR-IA is essential for the inductive events that lead to the formation of mesoderm during gastrulation (67). Mice lacking BMPR-IB are viable and exhibit defects in the appendicular skeleton. In BMPR-IB-deficient mice, proliferation of prechondrogenic cells and chondrocyte differentiation in the phalangeal region are markedly reduced. In adult mutant mice, the proximal interphalangeal joint is absent, and the phalanges are replaced by a single rudimentary element, while the distal phalanges are unaffected. The lengths of the radius, ulna and tibia are normal, but the metacarpals/metatarsals are reduced (44). The appendicular defects in BMPR-IB

mutant mice resemble those seen in mice homozygous for the GDF-5^{bp-j} null allele of the GDF-5 locus. Since GDF-5 has been shown to play a critical role in cartilage formation and binds BMPR-IB with high affinity (43), these results suggest that BMPR-IB plays a non-redundant role in cartilage formation in vivo. BMP ligands may utilize multiple type I receptors to mediate their signaling during This hypothesis is supported by bone formation. observations in BMPR-IB and BMP-7 double mutant mice. In the double mutant, severe appendicular skeletal defects have been observed in the forelimbs and hind limbs. The ulna is nearly absent and the radius is shortened (44). Since BMP-7 binds efficiently to both BMPR-IB and ActR-IA(Alk2) (14), it is conceivable that BMPR-IB and ActR-IA(Alk2) play important synergistic or overlapping roles in bone formation in vivo.

7. REGULATION OF BMP GENES

The transcription and expression of BMP genes are controlled by many growth factors and transcription factors. To understand the regulatory mechanisms of BMP-2 and BMP-4 genes, mouse and human BMP-2 and BMP-4 genomic DNA and promoters have been cloned (68,69,70,71) and BMP-2, 3 and 4 cDNA from different animal species has been isolated (53,72,73,74,75). Alternative promoters for BMP-2 and BMP-4 genes have been identified (70,75,76). All-trans and 9-cis retinoic acid activate mouse and human BMP-2 and BMP-4 promoters in F9 embryonic carcinoma cells and in human and murine osteoblastic cell lines (69,76). BMP-4 gene transcription is also regulated by an orphan receptor COUP-TFI (70).

BMP-2 up-regulates BMP-2 and BMP-4 mRNA expression in primary osteoblastic cells (74,77,109), suggesting that BMP-2 acts as an autocrine and paracrine factor during osteoblast differentiation. The autocrine effect of BMP-2 may be mediated in part through transcription factors, Dlx2 and Dlx5, as BMP-2 stimulates Dlx2 and Dlx5 mRNA expression and Dlx2 binds and activates BMP-2 gene transcription (78,79). Recently we found that BMP-2 gene transcription is controlled by transcription factors NF-kB and C-terminal truncated Gli3 in chondrocytes and in osteoblast precursor C2C12 and 2T3 cells. The responsive elements for these transcription factors have been mapped. Mutations in these responsive elements of BMP-2 gene alter BMP-2 promoter activities and cause losses of the responsiveness of BMP-2 gene to these transcription factors (80,81). It has also been reported that Gli1 and Gli3 stimulated BMP-4 and BMP-7 promoter activities (82).

BMP-6 is mainly expressed in chondrocytes and plays an important role in chondrocyte differentiation and endochondral bone formation. Glucocorticoid, estrogen and BMP-7 selectively upregulate BMP-6 expression (83,84,85) and PTHrP, a key factor in chondrocyte differentiation, inhibits BMP-6 expression in chondrocytes (86).

Recently it was shown that estrogens can activate the BMP-2 transcription throught an estrogen response

element. ERalpha seems to be selective in the context of an osteoblast precursor (87). This also may help explain the bone inducing qualities of many estrogenic ligands, both synthetic and natural.

8. BIOLOGICAL FUNCTIONS OF BMPS

BMPs have been implicated in a variety of functions. BMPs induce the formation of both cartilage and bone. During the process of bone formation, BMPs create a rudimentary environment that is conducive to the development of functional bone marrow (88). In addition, BMPs play a role in a number of non-osteogenic developmental processes. Neural induction represents the earliest step in the determination of ectodermal cell fates. In vertebrates, BMPs act as signals of epidermal induction (89). BMP-2 can direct the development of neural crest cells into neuronal phenotypes (90), while BMP-4 and BMP-7 specifically induce a sympathetic adrenergic phenotype. BMPs give direction to somite development by inhibiting the process of myogenesis. BMPs also appear to be responsible for normal dorsal/ventral patterning. BMP-4 specifies the development of ventral structures (e.g., skin from ectoderm and connective tissue/blood from mesoderm). Dorsal structures (nervous system and muscle) apparently appear when BMP-4 signals are interrupted through the activities of binding proteins (92). In the limb bud, and as part of the fibroblast growth factor 4 (FGF-4) and sonic hedgehog (Shh) interaction, BMP-2 apparently inhibits limb bud expansion and induces the formation of chondrocyte and osteoblast precursors (93,94). The list can go on and on. As one biologist recently said, Wnts maybe the architects of developments but BMPs are both architects and general contractors.

Physiological roles of BMPs and BMP receptor signaling on normal bone formation have also been studied. Injection of BMP-2 locally over the surface of calvariae of mice can be used to induce periosteal new bone formation on the surface of calvariae without a prior cartilage phase (74). Systemic administration of BMP-6 increases trabecular bone volume and bone formation rates in mice (95). Overexpression of dominant-negative type IB BMP receptors (BMPR-IB) in osteoblast precursor 2T3 cells inhibits osteoblast-specific gene expression and mineralized bone matrix formation (96). Overexpression of a dominant negative BMPR-1A actually slowed growth but accelerated differentiation. In the transgenic mice which express a dominant-negative truncated BMPR-IB driven by the osteoblast-specific type I collagen promoter, the bone mineral density, static bone volume and dynamic bone formation rates are decreased in one-month-old transgenic mice (97), demonstrating that BMP receptor signaling plays a necessary role in normal postnatal bone formation. Future bone and cartilage specific activation of constitutive BMP receptors and tissue specific knock-outs of the BMP-2 and BMP-4 ligands should begin to clarify the roles of individual BMP ligands and receptors in the formation of bone by endocondral as well as intramembraneous mechanisms.

9. CLINICAL APPLICATIONS OF BMPS

The osteoinductive capacity of BMPs has been demonstrated in preclinical models, and the efficacy of

BMPs for the treatment of orthopedic and dental patients is now being evaluated in clinical trials. The clinical applications of recombinant BMP-2 and BMP-7 are being studied most extensively. Many of the animal models used to evaluate the capacity of BMPs to heal bone defects have utilized critical-sized defects. In these animal models, bone defects are large enough that they will not heal without a therapeutic intervention. This setting facilitates analysis of the ability of a BMP to induce bone. Recombinant human BMP-2 combined with a variety of matrices has been shown to heal defects in a canine mandibular defect model (98). Healing of long bone critical-sized defects by BMP-2 has been demonstrated in species including rats, rabbits, dogs, sheep and non-human primates (99,100). The implantation of BMP-7 containing bovine collagen matrix preparations restored large diaphyseal segmental defects in monkeys, rabbits, and dogs, leading to the regeneration of new bone that is fully functional biologically and biomechanically (101,102). Osteochondral defects are the common end point for several types of joint diseases, such degenerative arthritis, infection, and trauma. Preparations of BMP-7 in conjunction with a type I collagen carrier induces autologous cells and repairs osteochondral defects in rabbits (103). These results suggest that BMP-7 may be useful in articular cartilage repair. Both BMP-2 and BMP-7 have been shown to induce new dentine formation and have a potential application as a substitute for root canal surgery (104). BMP2 has also been shown to be an effective bone inducer around dental implants for periodontal reconstruction (105).

10. DRUG TARGETING ON BMP SIGNALING

In attempts to identify small molecular weight compounds that stimulate substantive formation of new bone, a cell-based screening assay was utilized using an osteoblast precursor cell line that was derived from transgenic mice, and where the transgene was SV40 large T antigen targeted to the osteoblast lineage (106). These cells were stably transfected with the BMP-2 promoter operatively linked to the firefly luciferase reporter gene. The capacity of the small molecular weight compounds to stimulate the BMP-2 promoter was assessed by the increase in luciferase activity in cells exposed to compounds.

Using this cell-based screening assay, we examined approximately 150,000 compounds, which include chemically synthesized compounds and the natural product extracts for their capacity to activate the BMP-2 gene transcription. From the natural product extracts, we identified a yeast extract, which has BMP-2 stimulating activity. Upon fractionation of this extract, we identified the active constituent as lovastatin, a molecule that was known to inhibit the enzyme hydroxymethylglutarylcoenzyme (HMG CoA) reductase, the rate-limiting enzyme in cholesterol biosynthesis. Lovastatin, which increased BMP-2 transcription in doses of 1-5 uM, belongs to a class of drugs called statins, which are widely prescribed in clinical medicine for lowering serum cholesterol and reducing the frequency of heart attacks. We then found that other closely related statins, namely simvastatin,

mevastatin, fluvastatin and cerivastatin, had similar effects on the BMP-2 promoter. We examined their effects on endogenous BMP-2 mRNA expression and found that simvastatin increased BMP-2 mRNA expression in human osteoblast MG-63 cells, detected by Northern analysis (107).

To determine if this occurs in conjunction with a biological effect in the osteoblasts, we first cultured the statins with explants of murine calvarial bones. We found that each of the statins caused a marked increase in osteoblast cell accumulation and bone formation in doses of 0.5-5 uM over 4-7 days of culture. We then tested the effects of the statins in vivo by local injections over the murine calvaria. We found that there was a 30-60% increase in periosteal new bone formed after only 5 days of exposure to lovastatin or simvastatin. We next determined if they produced a similar effect when administered systemically. These experiments were performed in intact rats, and also in rats that were ovariectomized in order to mimic the situation that occurs in post-menopausal women. Following 35 days of administration by oral gayage of lovastatin or simvastatin in doses of 5-10 mg/kg per day, there was a marked increase in trabecular bone volume in each of these animal models associated with increases in mineral apposition rates. There was also a decrease in osteoclast numbers, suggesting that statins were also decreasing bone resorption rates (107). These data show that statins are capable of stimulating new bone formation.

Using the same cell-based screening assay, we also identified another class of compounds that stimulate BMP-2 gene expression and bone formation. compounds belong to a class of compounds that have proteasome inhibitor activity. Proteasome inhibitors stimulated BMP-2 gene transcription (promoter assay), mRNA expression (Northern analysis and bDNA assay) and protein expression (Elisa assay). Proteasome inhibitors stimulated periosteal new bone formation in calvarial organ culture assay in vitro and in calvarial local injection model in vivo. Proteasome inhibitors PS1 and epoxomicin increased trabecular bone volume (more than 50%) and bone formation rates in mice when administered systemically. Using specific inhibitors of different proteasome activities, we further demonstrated that inhibition of chymotryptic activity of the proteasome is responsible for the bone formation effect induced by proteasome inhibitors (81). More recently, we have also found that microtubule inhibitors activate BMP signaling, probably by increasing the dissociation of Smad1 and Smad5 from their binding to microtubule, and stimulate bone formation in vivo (110).

The results that small molecular weight compounds stimulated BMP-2 gene transcription and subsequent bone formation provide new evidence that BMP-2 signaling plays a critical role in bone formation and suggesting that targeting on BMP-2 transcription and BMP signaling may lead to the development of new therapeutic agents for the treatment of bone loss associated diseases. Estrogen now appears to belong to this class of small compounds that can stimulate BMP-2 transcription and

argue positively for the use of phytoestrogens and estrogenic flavenoids in preventing bone loss.

11. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by NIH/NIAMS grant AR048920 and a pilot grant of the Aging Research and Education Center (Nathan Shock Center) to D.C.

12. REFERENCES

- 1. Wozney, J.M: The bone morphogenetic protein family and osteogenesis. *Mol Reprod Dev* 32, 160-167 (1992)
- 2. Urist M.R: Bone formation by autoinduction. *Science* 150, 893-899 (1965)
- 3. Luyten F.P., N.S. Cunningham, S. Ma, N. Muthukumaran, R.G. Hammonds, W.B. Nevins, W.I. Woods & A.H. Reddi: Purification and partial amino acid sequence of osteogenin, a protein initiating bone differentiation. *J Biol Chem* 264, 13377-13380 (1989)
- 4. Wozney J.M., V. Rosen, A.J. Celeste, L.M. Mitsock, M.J. Whitters, R. Kriz, R. Hewick & E.A. Wang: Novel regulators of bone formation: Molecular clones and activities. *Science* 242, 1528-1534 (1988)
- 5. Nishimatsu S. & G.H. Thomsen: Ventral mesoderm induction and patterning by bone morphogenetic protein heterodimers in Xenopus embryos. *Mech Dev* 74, 75-88 (1998)
- 6. Ebendal T., H. Bengtsson & S. Soderstrom: Bone morphogenetic proteins and their receptors: potential functions in the brain. *J Neurosci Res* 51, 139-46 (1998)
- 7. Yamashita H., P. ten Dijke, D. Huylebroeck, T.K. Sampath, M. Andries, J.S. Smith, C.H. Heldin Miyazono: Osteogenic protein-1 binds to activin type II receptors and induces certain activin-like effects. *J Cell Biol* 130, 217-226(1995)
- 8. Israel D.I., J. Nove, K.M. Kerns, I.K. Moutsatsos & R.J. Kaufman: Expression and characterization of bone morphogenetic protein-2 in Chinese hamster ovary cells. *Growth Factors* 7, 139-50 (1992)
- 9. Jones W.K., E.A. Richmond, K.White, H. Sasak, W. Kusmik, J. Smart, H. Oppermann, D.C. Rueger & R.F. Tucker: Osteogenic protein-1 (OP-1) expression and processing in Chinese hamster ovary cells: isolation of a soluble complex containing the mature and pro-domains of OP-1. *Growth Factors* 11, 215-25 (1994)
- 10. Bessho K., Y. Konishi, S. Kaihara, K. Fujimura, Y. Okubo & T. Iizuka: Bone induction by Escherichia coliderived recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2 compared with Chinese hamster ovary cell-derived recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2. *Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg* 38, 645-649 (2000)
- 11. Vallejo L.F., M. Brokelmann, S. Marten, S. Trappe, J. Cabrera-Crespo, A. Hoffmann, G. Gross, H.A. Weich & U. Rinas: Renaturation and purification of bone morphogenetic protein-2 produced as inclusion bodies in high-cell-density cultures of recombinant Escherichia coli. *J Biotechnol* 94, 185-94 (2002)
- 12. Koenig B.B., J.S. Cook, D.H. Wolsing, J. Ting, J.P. Tiesman, P.E. Correa, C.A. Olson, F. Pecquetl, F. Ventura, R.A. Grant, G. Chen, J.L Wrana, J. Massagué & J.S. Rosenbaum: Characterization and cloning of a receptor for

- BMP-2 and BMP-4 from NIH 3T3 cells. *Mol Cell Biol* 14, 5961-5974 (1994)
- 13. ten Dijke P., H. Yamashita, T.K. Sampath, A.H. Reddi, M. Estevez, D.L. Riddle, H. Ichijo, C.H. Heldin & K. Miyazono: Identification of type I receptors for osteogenic protein-1 and bone morphogenetic protein-4. *J Biol Chem* 269, 16985-16988 (1994)
- 14. Macias-Silva M., P.A. Hoodless, S.J. Tang, M. Buchwald & J.L. Wrana: Specific activation of Smad1 signaling pathways by the BMP7 type I receptor, ALK2. *J Biol Chem* 273, 25628-25636 (1998)
- 15. Nohno T., T. Ishikawa, T. Saito, K. Hosokawa, S. Noji, D.H. Wolsing & J.S. Rosenbaum: Identification of a human type II receptor for bone morphogenetic protein-4 that forms differential heteromeric complexes with bone morphogenetic protein type I receptors. *J Biol Chem* 270, 22522-22526 (1995) 16. Rosenzweig B.L., T. Imamura, T. Okadome, G.N. Cox, H. Yamashita, P. ten Dijke, C. Heldin & K. Miyazono: Cloning and characterization of a human type II receptor for bone morphogenetic proteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 92, 7632-7636 (1995)
- 17. Kawabata M., A. Chytil & H.L. Moses: Cloning of a novel type II serine/threonine kinase receptor through interaction with the type I transforming growth factor-ß receptor. *J Biol Chem* 270, 5625-5630 (1995)
- 18. Moustakas A. & C.H. Heldi: From mono- to oligo-Smads: The heart of the matter in TGF- β signal transduction. *Genes Dev* 16, 67-1871 (2002)
- 19. Carcamo J., A. Zentella & J. Massague: Disruption of transforming growth factor β signaling by a mutation that prevents transphosphorylation within the receptor complex. *Mol Cell Biol* 15, 1573-1581 (1995)
- 20. Wieser R., J.L. Wrana & J. Massague: GS domain mutations that constitutively active at $T\beta R$ -I, the downstream signaling component in the TGF- β receptor complex. *EMBO J* 14, 2199-2208 (1995)
- 21. Wrana J.L.: On the Wings of inhibition. *Nature* 420, 613-614 (2002)
- 22. Hoodless P.A., T. Haerry, S. Abdollah, M. Stapleton , M.B. O'Connor, L. Attisano & J.L. Wrana: MADR1, a MADrelated protein that functions in BMP2 signaling pathways. *Cell* 85, 489-500 (1996)
- 23. Nishimura R., Y. Kato, D. Chen, S.E. Harris, G.R. Mundy & T. Yoneda: Smad5 and DPC4 are key molecules in mediating BMP-2-induced osteoblastic differentiation of the pluripotent mesenchymal precursor cell line C2C12. *J Biol Chem* 273, 1872-1879 (1998)
- 24. Chen Y., A. Bhushan & W. Vale: Smad8 mediates the signaling of the receptor serine kinase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 94, 12938-12943 (1997)
- 25. Chen X., M.J. Rubock & M. Whitman: A transcriptional partner of MAD proteins in TGF- β signaling. *Nature* 383, 691-696 (1996)
- 26. Qin B.Y., S.S. Lam, J.J. Correia & K. Lin: Samd3 allostery links TGF- β receptor kinase activation to transcriptional control. *Genes Dev* 16, 1950-1963 (2002)
- 27. Chen X., E. Weisberg, V. Fridmacher, M. Watanabe, G. Naco & M. Whitman: Smad4 and FAST-1 in the assembly of activin-responsive factor. *Nature* 389, 85-89 (1997)
- 28. Shi X., X. Yang, D. Chen, Z. Chang X. Cao: Smad1 interacts with homeobox DNA-binding proteins in bone

- morphogenetic protein signaling. J Biol Chem 274, 13711-13717 (1999)
- 29. Tueh Y.G., D.P. Gardner C. Kappen: Evidence for regulation of cartilage differentiation homeobox gene Hoxc-8. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 95, 9956-9961 (1998)
- 30. Wotlon D., R.S. Lo, S. Lee & J. Massague: A Smad transcriptional corepressor. *Cell* 97, 29-39 (1999)
- 31. Hanai J., L.F. Chen, T. Kanno, N. Ohtani-Fujita, W.Y. Kim, W.H. Guo, T. Imamura, Y. Ishidou, M. Fukuchi, M.J. Shi, J. Stavnezer, M. Kawabata, K. Miyazono & Y. Ito: Interaction and functional cooperation of PEBP2/CBF with Smads. Synergistic induction of the immunoglobulin germline Calpha promoter. *J Biol Chem* 274, 31577-31582 (1999)
- 32. Zhang Y.W., N. Yasui, K. Ito, G. Huang, M. Fujii, J. Hanai, H. Nogami, T. Ochi, K. Miyazono & Y. Ito: A RUNX2/PEBP2alpha A/CBFA1 mutation displaying impaired transactivation and Smad interaction in cleidocranial dysplasia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97, 10549-10554 (2000)
- 33. Lee K.S., H.J. Kim, Q.L. Li, X.Z. Chi, C. Ueta, T. Komori, J.M. Wozney, E.G. Kim, J.Y. Choi, H.M. Ryoo & S.C. Bae: Runx2 is a common target of transforming growth factor beta1 and bone morphogenetic protein 2, and cooperation between Runx2 and Smad5 induces osteoblast-specific gene expression in the pluripotent mesenchymal precursor cell line C2C12. *Mol Cell Biol* 20, 8783-8792 (2000)
- 34. Bae S.C., K.S. Lee, Y.W. Zhang & Y. Ito: Intimate relationship between TGF-beta/BMP signaling and runt domain transcription factor, PEBP2/CBF. *J Bone Joint Surg Am* 83-A Suppl 1(Pt 1), S48-55 (2001)
- 35. Zhao M., M. Qiao, B. Oyajobi, G.R. Mundy & D. Chen: E3 ubiquitin ligase Smurf1 mediates Cbfa1 degradation and plays a specific role in osteoblast differentiation. *J Biol Chem* 278, 27939-27944 (2003)
- 36. Komori T., H. Yagi, S. Nomura, A. Yamaguchi, K. Sasaki, K. Deguchi, Y. Shimizu, R.T. Bronson, Y. Gao, M. Inada, M. Sato, R. Okamoto, R. Kitamura, S. Yoshiki & T. Kishimot o: Targeted disruption of Cbfa1 results in a complete lack of bone formation owing to maturational arrest of osteoblasts. *Cell* 89, 755-764 (1997)
- 37. Otto F., A.P. Thornell, T. Crompton, A. Denze, K.C. Gilmour, I.R. Rosewell, G.W.H. Stamp, R.S.P. Beddington, S. Mundlos, B.R. Olsen, P. Selby & M. Owen: Cbfa1, a candidate gene for cleidocranial dysplasia syndrome, is essential for osteoblast differentiation and bone development. *Cell* 89, 765-771 (1997)
- 38. Kingsley D.M., A.E. Bland, J.M. Grubber, P.C. Marker, L.B. Russell, N.C. Copeland & N.A. Jenkins: The mouse short ear skeletal morphogenesis is associated with defects in a bone morphogenetic member of the TGF?superfamily. *Cell* 71, 399-410 (1992)
- 39. Mikic B., M.C. van der Meulen, D.M. Kingsley & D.R. Carter: Long bone geometry and strength in adult BMP-5 deficient mice. *Bone*16, 445-454 (1995)
- 40. Storm E.E., T.V. Huynh, N.G. Copeland, N.A. Jenkins, D.M. Kingsley & S.J. Lee: Limb alterations in *brachypodism* mice due to mutations in a new member of the TGF?β superfamily. *Nature* 368, 639-643 (1994)
- 41. Thomas J.T., K. Lin, M. Nandedkar, M. Camargo, J. Cervenka & F.P. Luyten: A human chondrodysplasia due to a mutation in a TGF- β superfamily member. *Nature Genetics* 12, 315-317 (1996)

- 42. Thomas J.T., M.W. Kilpatrick, K. Lin, L. Erlacher, P. Lembessis, T. Costa, P. Tsipouras & F.P. Luyten: Disruption of human limb morphogenesis by a dominant negative mutation in CDMP1. *Nat Genet* 17, 58-64 (1997) 43. Nishitoh H., H. Ichijo, M. Kimura, T. Matsumoto, F.
- 43. Nishiton H., H. Ichijo, M. Kimura, T. Matsumoto, F. Makishima, A. Yamaguchi, H. Yamashita, S. Enomoto & K. Miyazono: Identification of type I and type II serine/threonine kinase receptors for growth/differentiation factor-5. *J Biol Chem* 271, 21345-21352 (1996)
- 44. Yi S.E., A. Daluiski, R. Pederson, V. Rosen & K.M. Lyons: The type I BMP receptor BMPRIB is required for chondrogenesis in the mouse limb. *Development* 127, 621-630 (2000)
- 45. Gannon F.H., F.S. Kaplan, E. Olmsted, G.C. Finkel, M.A. Zasloff & E. Shore: Bone morphogenetic protein 2/4 in early fibromatous lesions of fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva. *Hum Pathol* 28, 339-343 (1997)
- 46. Xu M.Q., G. Feldman, M. Le Merrer, Y.Y. Shugart, D.L. Glaser, J.A. Urtizberea, M. Fardeau, J.M. Connor, J. Triffitt, R. Smith, E.M. Shore & F.S. Kaplan: Linkage exclusion and mutational analysis of the noggin gene in patients with fibrodysplasia ossificans progressiva (FOP). *Clin Genet* 58, 291-298 (2000)
- 47. Lane K.B., R.D. Machado, M.W. Pauciulo, J.R. Thomson, J.A. Phillips, J.E. Loyd, W.C. Nichols & R.C. Trembath: Heterozygous germline mutations in BMPR2, encoding a TGF-β receptor, cause familial primary pulmonary hypertension. *Nature Genetics* 26, 81-84 (2000) 48. Newman J.H., L. Wheeler, K.B. Lane, E. Loyd, R. Gaddipati, J.A. 3rd Phillips 3rd & J.E. Loyd: Mutation in the gene for bone morphogenetic protein receptor II as a cause of primary pulmonary hypertension in a large kindred. *N Engl J Med* 345,319-324 (2001)
- 49. Deng Z., J.H. Morse, S.L. Slager, N. Cuervo, M.J. Moore, G. Venetos, S. Kalachikov, E. Cayanis, S.G. Fischer, R.J.Barst, S.E. Hodge & J.A. Knowles: Familial primary pulmonary hypertension (gene PPH1) is caused by mutations in the bone morphogenetic protein receptor-II gene. *Am J Hum Genet* 67, 737-744 (2000)
- 50. Takebayashi K., K. Takakura, H. Wang, F. Kimura, K. Kasahara & Y. Noda: Mutation analysis of the growth differentiation factor-9 and -9B genes in patients with premature ovarian failure and polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertil Steril*. 74, 976-979 (2000)
- 51. Jin Y., G.L. Tipoe, E.C. Liong, T.Y. Lau, P.C. Fung & K.M. Leung: Overexpression of BMP-2/4, -5 and BMPR-IA associated with malignancy of oral epithelium. *Oral Oncol* 37, 225-233 (2001)
- 52. Harris S.E., M.A. Harris, P. Mahy, J.M. Wozney, J.Q. Feng & G.R. Mundy: Expression of bone morphogenetic protein messenger RNAs by normal rat and human prostate and prostate cancer cells. *Prostate* 24, 204-211 (1994) 53. Chen D., J.Q. Feng, M. Feng, M.A. Harris, P. Mahy, G.R. Mundy & S.E. Harris: Sequence and expression of bone morphogenetic protein 3 mRNA in prolonged cultures of fetal rat calvarial osteoblasts and in rat prostate adenocarcinoma PA III cells. *DNA Cell Biol* 14, 235-239 (1995)
- 54. Mulsant P., F. Lecerf, S. Fabre, L. Schibler, P. Monget, I. Lanneluc, C. Pisselet, J. Riquet, D. Monniaux, I. Callebaut, E. Cribiu, J. Thimonier, J. Teyssier, L. Bodin, Y. Cognie, N. Chitour & J.M. Elsen: Mutation in bone

- morphogenetic protein receptor-IB is associated with increased ovulation rate in Booroola Merino ewes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 98,5104-9 (2001)
- 55. Gong Y., D. Krakow, J. Marcelino, D. Wilkin, D. Chitayat, R. Babul-Hirji, L. Hudgins, C.W. Cremers, F.P. Cremers, H.G. Brunner, K. Reinker, D.L. Rimoin, D.H. Cohn, F.R. Goodman, W. Reardon, M. Patton, C.A. Francomano & M.L. Warman: Heterozygous mutations in the gene encoding noggin affect human joint morphogenesis. *Nat Genet* 21, 302-304 (1999)
- 56. Takahashi T., I. Takahashi, M. Komatsu, Y. Sawaishi, K. Higashi, G. Nishimura, H. Saito & G. Takada: Mutations of the NOG gene in individuals with proximal symphalangism and multiple synostosis syndrome. *Clin Genet* 60, 447-451 (2001)
- 57. Groppe J., J. Greenwald, E. Wiater, J. Rodrizuez-Leon, A.N. Economides, W. Kwiatkowshi, M. Affolter, W. Vale, J.C.I. Belmonte & S. Choe: Structural basis of BMP signaling inhibition by the cystine knot protein Noggin *Nature* 420, 636-642 (2002)
- 58. Latham J.A: The biochemical and cellular characterization of Sclerostin, the causative gene for sclerosteosis. 29th European Symposium on Calcified Tissues, Zagreb, Croatia (2002)
- 59. Truswell A.S: Osteopetrosis with Syndactyly: A morphological variant of Albers-Schonberg's disease. *J Bone Joint Surg* 40(B), 208-218 (1958)
- 60. Stein S.A., C. Witkop, S. Hill, M.D. Fallon, L. Viernstein, G. Gucer, P. McKeever, D. Long, J. Altman, N.R. Miller, S.L. Teitelbaum & S. Schlesinger: Sclerosteosis: neurogenetic and pathophysiologic analysis of an American kinship. *Neurology*. 33, 267-277 (1983)
- 61. Zhang H. & A. Bradley: Mice deficient for BMP-2 are nonviable and have defects in amnion/chorion and cardiac development. *Development* 122, 2977-2986 (1996)
- 62. Winnier G., M. Blessing, P.A. Labosky & B.L.M. Hogan: Bone morphogenetic protein-4 is required for mesoderm formation and patterning in the mouse. *Genes Dev* 9, 2105-2116 (1995)
- 63. Luo G., C. Hofmann, A.J. Bronchers, M. Sohocki, A. Bradley & G. Karsenty: BMP-7 is an inducer of nephrogenesis, and is also required for eye development and skeletal patterning. *Genes Dev* 9, 2808-2820 (1995)
- 64. Dudley A.T., K.M. Lyons & E.J. Robertson: A requirement for bone morphogenetic protein-7 during development of the mammalian kidney and eye. *Genes Dev* 9, 2795-807 (1995)
- 65. Solloway M.J., A.T. Dudley, E.K. Bikoff, K.M. Lyons, B.L. Hogan & E.J. Robertson: Mice lacking Bmp6 function. *Dev Genet* 22, 321-339 (1998)
- 66. McPherron A.C., A.M. Lawler & S.J. Lee: Regulation of skeletal muscle mass in mice by a new TGFβ superfamily member. *Nature* 387, 83-90 (1997)
- 67. Mishina Y., A. Suzuki, N. Ueno & R.B. Behringer: Bmpr encodes a type I bone morphogenetic protein receptor that is essential for gastrulation during mouse embryogenesis. *Genes Dev* 9, 3027-3037 (1995)
- 68. Feng J.Q., M.A. Harris, N. Ghosh-Choudhury, M. Feng, G.R. Mundy & S.E. Harris: Structure and sequence of mouse bone morphogenetic protein-2 gene (BMP-2): Comparison of the structures and promoter regions of BMP-2 and BMP-4 genes. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1218, 221-224 (1994)

- 69. Helvering L.M., R.L. Sharp, X. Ou & A.G. Geiser: Regulation of the promoters for the human bone morphogenetic protein 2 and 4 genes. *Gene* 256, 123-138 (2000)
- 70. Feng J.Q., D. Chen, A. Cooney, M.J. Tsai, M.A. Harris, S.Y. Tsai, M. Feng, G.R. Mundy & S.E. Harris: The mouse bone morphogenetic protein 4-gene: Analysis of promoter utilization in fetal rat calvarial osteoblasts and regulation by COUP-TFI orphan receptor. *J Biol Chem* 270, 28364-28374 (1995a)
- 71. Shore E.M., M. Xu, P.B. Shah, H.B. Janoff, G.V. Hahn, M.A. Deardorff, L. Sovinsky, N.B. Spinner, M.A. Zasloff, J.M. Wozney & F.S. Kaplan: The human bone morphogenetic protein 4 (BMP-4) gene: molecular structure and transcriptional regulation. *Calcif Tissue Int* 63, 221-229 (1998)
- 72. Chen D., J.Q. Feng, M. Feng, M.A. Harris, G.R. Mundy & S.E. Harris: Cloning and sequence of bone morphogenetic protein 4 cDNA from fetal rat calvarial cells. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1174, 289-292 (1993)
- 73. Feng J.Q., D. Chen, J. Esparza, M.A. Harris, G.R. Mundy, S.E. Harris: Deer antler tissue contains two types of bone morphogenetic protein 4 mRNA transcripts. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1263, 163-168 (1995b)
- 74. Chen D., M.A. Harris, G. Rossini, C.R. Dunstan, S.L. Dallas, J.Q. Feng, G.R. Mundy & S.E. Harris: Bone morphogenetic protein 2 (BMP-2) enhances BMP-3, BMP-4 and bone cell differentiation marker gene expression during the induction of mineralized bone matrix formation in cultures of fetal rat calvarial osteoblasts. *Calcif Tissue Int* 60, 283-290 (1997)
- 75. Feng J.Q., D. Chen, N. Ghosh-Choudhury, J. Esparza, G.R. Mundy & S.E. Harris: Bone morphogenetic protein 2 transcripts in rapidly developing deer antler tissue contain an extended 5' non-coding region arising from a distal promoter. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1350, 47-52 (1997)
- 76. Heller L.C., Y. Li, K.L. Abrams & M.B. Rogers: Transcriptional regulation of the Bmp2 gene. Retinoic acid induction in F9 embryonal carcinoma cells and Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *J Biol Chem* 274, 1394-400 (1999)
- 77. Ghosh-Choudhury N., G.G. Choudhury, M.A. Harris, J.M. Wozney, G.R. Mundy, S.L. Abboud & S.E. Harris: Autoregulation of mouse BMP-2 gene transcription is directed by the proximal promoter element. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 286, 101-108 (2001)
- 78. Miyama K., G. Yamada, T.S. Yamamoto, C. Takagi, K. Miyado, M. Sakai, N. Ueno & H. Shibuya: A BMP-inducible gene, Dlx5, regulates osteoblast differentiation and mesoderm induction. *Develop Biol* 208, 123-133 (1999)
- 79. Harris S.E., M.A. Harris, N. Ghosh-Choudhury, C. Xu, D. Chen, L. Wang, J. Rubenstein & G.R. Mundy: Dlx2 homeobox gene is rapidly induced by BMP-2 and directly regulates BMP-2 transcription through a cell-specific enhancer region. *Bone* 23, S197 (1998)
- 80. Feng J.Q., L. Xing, J. Zhang, M. Zhao, D. Horn, J. Chan, B.F. Boyce, S.E. Harris, G.R. Mundy & D. Chen: NF-κB specifically regulates BMP-2 gene expression in growth plate chondrocytes in vivo and in a chondrocyte cell line *in vitro*. *J Biol Chem* M212296200 (May 2003)

- 81. Garrett I.R., D. Chen, G. Gutierrez, M. Zhao, A. Escobedo, G. Rossini, S.E. Harris, K.B. Kim, C.M. Crews & G.R. Mundy: Selective inhibitors of the chymotrypsin-like activity of the osteoblast proteasome are potent stimulators of bone formation *in vivo* and *in vitro*. *J Clin Invest* 111, 1771-1782 (2002)
- 82. Kawai S. & T. Sugiura: Characterization of human bone morphogenetic protein (BMP)-4 and -7 gene promoters: activation of BMP promoters by Gli, a sonic hedgehog mediator. *Bone* 29, 54-61 (2001)
- 83. Boden S.D., G. Hair, L. Titus, M. Racine, K. Mccuaig, J.M. Wozney & M.S. Nanes: Glucocorticoid-induced differentiation of fetal rat calvarial osteoblasts is mediated by bone morphogenetic protein-6. *Endocrinology* 138, 2820-2828 (1997)
- 84. Rickard D., L.C. Hofbauer, S. Bonde, F. Gori, T.C. Spelsberg & B.L. Riggs: Bone morphogenetic protein-6 production in human osteoblastic cell lines: selective regulation by estrogen. *J Clin Invest* 101, 413-422 (1998)
- 85. Honda Y., R. Knutsen, D.D. Strong, T.K. Sampath, D.J. Baylink & S. Mohan: Osteogenic protein-1 stimulates mRNA levels of BMP-6 and decreases mRNA levels of BMP-2 and -4 in human osteosarcoma cells. *Calcif Tissue Int* 60, 297-301 (1997)
- 86. Grimsbud C.D., P.R. Romano, M. D'Souza, J.D. Puzas, P.R. Reynolds, R.N. Rosier & R.J. O'Keefe: BMP-6 is an autocrine stimulator of chondrocyte differentiation. *J Bone Miner Res* 14, 475-482 (1999)
- 87. Zhou S., G. Turgeman, S.E. Harris, D.C. Leitman, B.S. Komm, P.V.N. Bodine & D. Gazit: Estrogens activate Bone Morphogenetic Protein-2 Gene Transcription in Mouse Mesenchymal Stem Cells. *Mol Endocrinol* 17, 56-66 (2003)
- 88. Wozney J.M., V. Rosen, M. Byrne, A.J. Celeste, I. Moutsatsos & E.A. Wang: Growth factors influencing bone development. *J Cell Sci* (Suppl)13, 149-56 (1990)
- 89. Muñoz-Sanjuán I. & A.H. Brivanlou: Neural induction, the default model and embryonic stem cells. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 3, 271-280 (2002)
- 90. Christiansen J.H., Eg>g Coles & D.G. Wilkinson: Molecular control of neural crest formation, migration and differentiation. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 12, 719-724 (2000)
- 91. Reshef R., M. Maroto & A.B. Lassar: Regulation of dorsal somitic cell fates: BMPs and Noggin control the timing and pattern of myogenic regulator expression. *Genes Dev* 12, 290-303 (1998)
- 92. Graff J.M: Embryonic patterning: to BMP or not to BMP, that is the question. *Cell* 89, 171-174 (1997)
- 93. Niswander L. & G.R. Martin: FGF-4 regulates expression of Evx-1 in the developing mouse limb. *Development* 119, 287-94 (1993)
- 94. Wall N.A. & B.L. Hogan: TGF-beta related genes in development. *Curr Opin Genet Dev* 4, 517-522 (1994) 95. Gitelman S.E., M.S. Kobrin, J.Q. Ye, A.R. Lopez, A. Lee & R. Derynck: Recombinant Vgr-1/BMP-6-expressing tumors induce fibrosis and endochondral bone formation *in vitro*. *J Cell Biol* 126, 1595-1609 (1994)
- 96. Chen D., X. Ji, M.A. Harris, J.Q. Feng, G. Karsenty, A.J. Celeste, V. Rosen, G.R. Mundy & S.E. Harris: Differential roles for BMP receptor type IB and IA in differentiation and specification of mesenchymal precursor

- cells to osteoblast and adipocyte lineages. J Cell Biol 142, 295-305 (1998)
- 97. Zhao M., S.E. Harris, D. Horn, Z. Geng, R. Nishimura, G.R. Mundy & D. Chen: Bone morphogenetic protein receptor signaling is necessary for normal murine postnatal bone formation. *J Cell Biol* 157, 1049-1060 (2002)
- 98: Sailer H.F. & E. Kolb: Application of purified bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) in cranio-maxillo-facial surgery. BMP in compromised surgical reconstructions using titanium implants. *J Craniomaxillofac Surg* 22, 2-11 (1994)
- 99. Gysin R., J.E. Wergedal, M.H. Sheng, Y. Kasukawa, N. Miyakoshi, S.T. Chen, H. Peng, K.H. Lau, S. Mohan & D.J. Baylink: *Ex vivo* gene therapy with stromal cells transduced with a retroviral vector containing the BMP4 gene completely heals critical size calvarial defect in rats. *Gene Ther* 9, 991-999 (2002)
- 100. Murakami N., N. Saito, H. Horiuchi, T. Okada, K. Nozaki and K. Takaoka: Repair of segmental defects in rabbit humeri with titanium fiber mesh cylinders containing recombinant human bone morphogenetic protein-2 (rhBMP-2) and a synthetic polymer. *J Biomed Mater Res* 62, 169-174 (2002)
- 101. Sampath T.K., J.C. Maliakal, P.V. Hauschka, W.K. Jones, H. Sasak, R.F. Tucker, K.H. White, J.E. Coughlin, M.M. Tucker & R.H. Pang: Recombinant human osteogenic protein-1 (hOP-1) induces bone formation *in vivo* with a specific activity comparable with natural bovine osteogenic protein and stimulates osteoblast proliferation and differentiation *in vitro*. *J Biol Chem* 267, 20352-20362 (1992)
- 102. Cook S.D., S.L. Salkeld, L.P. Patron, M.C. Sargent & D.C. Rueger: Healing course of primate ulna segmental defects treated with osteogenic protein-1. *J Invest Surg* 15, 69-79 (2002)
- 103. Mason J.M., A.S. Breitbart, M. Barcia, D. Porti, R.G. Pergolizzi &. D.A. Grande: Cartilage and bone regeneration using gene-enhanced tissue engineering. *Clin Orthop* 379(Suppl), S171-178 (2000)
- 104: Rutherford R.B., L. Spangberg, M. Tucker, D. Rueger & M. Charette: The time-course of the induction of reparative dentine formation in monkeys by recombinant human osteogenic protein-1. *Arch Oral Biol* 39, 833-8 (1994)
- 105. Cochran D.L & J.M. Wozney: Biological mediators for periodontal regeneration. *Periodontology* 19, 40-58 (1999)
- 106. Ghosh-Choudhury N., J.J. Windle, B.A. Koop, M.A. Harris, D.L. Guerrero, J.M. Wozney, G.R. Mundy & S.E. Harris: Immortalized murine osteoblasts derived from BMP2-T-antigen expressing transgenic mice. *Endocrinology* 137, 331-339 (1996)
- 107. Mundy G.R., I.R. Garrett, S.E. Harris, J. Chan, D. Chen, G. Rossini, B.F. Boyce, M. Zhao & G. Gutierrez: Stimulation of bone formation *in vitro* and in rodents by statins. *Science* 286, 1946-1949 (1999)
- 108. Yi S.E., P.S. LaPolt, B.S. Yoon, J.Y. Chen, J.K. Lu & K.M. Lyons: The type I BMP receptor BmprIB is essential for female reproductive function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 98, 7994-7999 (2001)
- 109. Harris S.E., J.Q. Feng, M.A. Harris, N. Ghosh-Choudhury, M.R. Dallas, J.M. Wozney & G.R. Mundy:

- Recombinant bone morphogenetic protein 2 accelerates bone cell differentiation and stimulates BMP-2 mRNA expression and BMP-2 promoter activity in primary fetal rat calvarial osteoblast cultures. *Mol Cell Differ* 3, 137-155 (1995)
- 110. Chen D., G. Rossini, M. Zhao, M. Qiao, G. Gutierrez & G.R. Mundy: Molecular mechanisms by which osteoblast differentiation is dependent on microtubule assembly. *J Bone Miner Res* 17, 1189 (2002)
- **Key Words:** BMP, Receptor, Signaling, Smad1, Knockout, Transgenic, Mutation, Embryonic development, Review
- Send corresponding to: Di Chen, MD, PhD, Department of Cellular and Structural Biology, University of Texas, Health Science Center at San Antonio, 7703 Floyd Curl Drive, Mail code: 7762, San Antonio, TX 78229-3900, USA, Tel: 210-614-0770, ext 239, Fax: 210-614-0797, Email: chend1@uthscsa.edu